Food and Chemical Toxicology 49 (2011) 1-7



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Food and Chemical Toxicology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/foodchemtox

Review

Plants with genetically modified events combined by conventional breeding: An assessment of the need for additional regulatory data

W. Pilacinski ^{a,*}, A. Crawford ^b, R. Downey ^c, B. Harvey ^d, S. Huber ^e, P. Hunst ^f, L.K. Lahman ^b, S. MacIntosh ^g, M. Pohl ^h, C. Rickard ⁱ, L. Tagliani ^j, N. Weber ^k

^a Agbiotech Consultant, 524 Rosewell Ct., St. Louis, MO 63021, USA

^b Regulatory Affairs, Monsanto Company, 800 N. Lindbergh Blvd., St. Louis, MO 63167, USA

^c Canoglobal Consulting, Inc., 23 Simpson Cres., Saskatoon, Canada SK S7H 3C5

^d Plant Sciences Department, University of Saskatchewan, 51 Campus Drive, Saskatoon SK, Canada S7N 5A8

^e Syngenta Biotechnology, Inc., P.O. Box 12257, 3054 Cornwallis Road, Research Triangle Park, NC 27709, USA

^fGlobal Regulatory Affairs, Bayer CropScience LP, 2 T.W. Alexander Dr., Research Triangle Park, NC 27709, USA

^g MacIntosh and Associates, Inc., 1203 Hartford Ave., St. Paul, MN 55116, USA

h BASF Plant Science Company GmbH, Agricultural Center - LI 444, Carl-Bosch-Strasse 64, Limburgerhof 67117, Germany

ⁱ CropLife International A.I.S.B.L., 326 Avenue Louise, Box 351050, Brussels, Belgium

^j Dow AgroSciences LLC, 9330 Zionsville Road, Indianapolis, IN 46268, USA

^k DuPont Experimental Station, P.O. Box 80353, Wilmington, DE 19880, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 7 May 2010 Accepted 3 November 2010

Keywords: Combined GM events Combined events GM event Combined traits GM trait Stacked traits

ABSTRACT

Crop varieties with multiple GM events combined by conventional breeding have become important in global agriculture. The regulatory requirements in different countries for such products vary considerably, placing an additional burden on regulatory agencies in countries where the submission of additional data is required and delaying the introduction of innovative products to meet agricultural needs. The process of conventional plant breeding has predictably provided safe food and feed products both historically and in the modern era of plant breeding. Thus, previously approved GM events that have been combined by conventional plant breeding and contain GM traits that are not likely to interact in a manner affecting safety should be considered to be as safe as their conventional counterparts. Such combined GM event crop varieties should require little, if any, additional regulatory data to meet regulatory requirements.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license.

Contents

	Introduction	
2.	Definitions and scope	2
3.	Current regulatory situation for combined GM events	3
4.	Safety considerations	3
	4.1. Conventional plant breeding	3
	4.2. Safety of crops with single GM events	4
	4.3. Safety of GM events combined by conventional breeding	5
5.	Discussion and recommendations	5
	Conflict of Interest	
	Acknowledgments	6
	References	6

1. Introduction

Since first commercialized in 1996, genetically modified (GM) crops have established a record of food, feed and environmental safety. From a food and feed safety perspective, they have demonstrated to be at least as safe as products produced by conventional

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 636 256 8559. *E-mail address:* wpilacinski@att.net (W. Pilacinski).

 $^{0278\}text{-}6915 @$ 2010 Elsevier Ltd. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2010.11.004

methods (Lemaux, 2008; Cockburn, 2002). From an environmental perspective, they can have impacts that are substantially lower than for conventionally produced products (Lemaux, 2009).

The GM crops that obtained early commercial success provided herbicide tolerance or insect protection (e.g., MON-Ø4Ø32-6 soy and SYN-BTØ11-1 maize), but generally did not combine these benefits in the same plant. The current trend, however, is to combine or 'stack' two or more single GM events to provide growers with a combination of traits that increase flexibility and improve performance. Most often, conventional plant breeding is used to combine GM events and in the past several years, multiple new combined GM event crops have been commercialized globally (James, 2007; James, 2009).

Prior to commercialization, crops containing new GM events are subject to stringent regulatory testing, and must satisfy requirements that are more demanding than those applied to crops developed through conventional breeding (Bradford et al., 2005; NRC, 2004). However, there currently is no global consensus for the regulation of crops with GM events that have been combined by conventional breeding. Consequently, individual regulatory agencies have devised their own requirements, and requested data packages may range from minimal to extensive. Additional regulatory requirements that are not based on science- and risk-based safety concerns further lengthen the review process, place an additional burden on regulatory agencies, and delay introducing innovative products to the grower.

In this paper, the current regulatory landscape for combined GM events is described. This is followed by a review of conventional plant breeding as it relates to combined GM event products, and a review of the safety assessment process applied to single GM event products. Then, the safety of combined GM events is discussed, considering the safety of the process used to create them as well as the results of additional data on combined GM events, given that these are required by some countries. Finally, based on the information described and reviewed, the scientific basis for regulatory data required for combined GM event products is evaluated and reasonable data requirements, consistent with this scientific basis, are proposed.

2. Definitions and scope

It is important to understand the difference between the terms GM trait, GM event and GM crop as they are used in this paper. A GM trait is a phenotypic characteristic expressed from DNA inserted into the plant genome during the transformation process. A GM event is defined by the insertion of DNA into the plant genome as a result of a single transformation process. Multiple DNA sequences may be inserted during a single transformation process. Thus, a single GM event may be characterized by the expression of one or more GM traits. A GM crop is one that contains one or more GM events, and phenotypically expresses one or more GM traits.

Combined GM trait products (also referred to as 'stacks' or 'pyramids' in the literature [De Schrijver et al., 2007]) may be produced using two broad approaches: (1) by conventional plant breeding, where parents with single GM events are bred to produce progeny with the combined GM events; or, (2) by molecular-based methods where two or more traits are simultaneously or sequentially transformed into a recipient crop. There are multiple ways by which the molecular-based methods can be employed to produce a crop with multiple traits (Halpin, 2005; Taverniers et al., 2008).

There are also important differences resulting from GM events combined using conventional breeding compared to molecularbased methods. Most importantly, using conventional breeding to combine GM events does not involve the transformation process; does not insert additional DNA into the genome; and does not modify the existing genomic DNA. Based on these criteria, GM events combined through conventional breeding do not constitute a new GM event. Similarly, a combined GM event product is not considered a new genetically modified organism (GMO), as defined by EU Directive 2001/18/EC (EC, 2001), nor a new living modified organism (LMO), as defined in the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety (SCBD, 2000). Additionally, according to rules established by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD, 2006), each commercial transformation event is assigned a nine-digit alphanumerical unique identifier. However, a new crop variety developed from GM events combined by conventional breeding is not given a new nine-digit alphanumeric OECD unique identifier; rather, the single GM event identifiers are used together to designate the combined GM event product.

This paper focuses on combined GM event products produced through conventional plant breeding (hereafter referred to as "combined GM events"), and is limited to GM events containing genes that are not likely to interact in a manner affecting safety. The discussion of trait interaction is complex. Traits that do not interact function independently and do not exhibit synergism, potentiation or antagonism. The GM events considered in this paper are unlikely to interact in a manner that affects safety, as they either, (a) do not share the same metabolic intermediates and are not in the same metabolic pathway, or, (b) exhibit mechanisms of action that are distinct on a biochemical or cellular level. An example of combined GM events in the first category is provided by combining herbicide tolerance (e.g., from CP4 EPSPS protein expression) and insect protection (e.g., from CRY1Ab protein expression). An example of combined GM events in the second category is multiple insect protection through the expression of two different CRY proteins with specific molecular targets to protect against both coleopteran (via CRY3Bb protein expression) and lepidopteran pests (via CRY1Ab protein expression). Based

Table 1

Global data requirements for combined GM events. The information below describes the current, though fluid, status of data requirements and review complexity for combined GM events globally. All countries base their review on the approved single events. For those countries with additional data requirements (right side of table), the amount of data and the complexity of the review process varies greatly. The relative position in the table for any individual country requiring additional data (see examples, lower, right) is not meant to indicate their position in the continuum of relative data requirements. The European Union requirements for additional data requirements and review complexity are significantly higher than those in any other countries.

Data requirements:	
No additional data unless potential to interact	Continuum of additional data and complexity of review from: • Minimum data (confirm presence of traits/ lack of interaction) • Additional data if potential to interact • Minimum review complexity (short, defined review period) (increasing data and complexity of review) to:
Country or region:	 Comprehensive dataset regardless of inter- action potential (phenotypic characteriza- tion, molecular characterization, protein levels, morphology, nutritional composition) Additional data if potential to interact Complex review (undefined, protracted review period)
United States,Canada, Australia/NewZealand	Mexico, Colombia, Taiwan, Philippines, Japan, South Korea, South Africa, European Union

3

Table 2

Guidance from internationa	l groups and	agencies on	combined	GM events and	conventional breeding.

Group or Agency	Guidance
World Health Organization (WHO, 1995)	"Progeny derived from food varieties shown to be substantially equivalent would be expected themselves to be substantially equivalent. Traditional breeding practices would be expected to reject any varieties in which the inserted trait is unstable or gives rise to adverse secondary effects." "it is likely that additional varieties will be developed by crossing varieties, each of which was obtained by genetic engineering. For example, if substantial equivalence has been demonstrated both for a tomato with a gene producing a delayed ripening phenotype and for a tomato with a gene for herbicide resistance, then crossing these two varieties would result in a new variety that would be expected to be substantially equivalent to the parents."
Food and Agriculture Organization/World Health Organization (FAO/WHO, 1996)	"Further strains/varieties may be derived from genetically modified organisms by conventional techniques, such as traditionalplant breeding. Where the genetically modified organisms have been determined to be acceptable as a result of the safety assessment, these further strains/varieties should be assessed on their own merits according to practices applied for the assessment of conventionally-derived organisms."
International Seed Federation (ISF, 2005)	"Once a new transformation event has been determined by a recognized authority to be safe for human or animal health and the environment then plants containing it should be useable in further plant breeding and any progeny containing the same transformation event should be covered by the original commercialization approval."
Crop Life International (CLI, 2005)	"Combined trait plant biotechnology products produced by conventional plant breeding practices should be subject to the same regulatory oversight that is applied to conventional crops produced using the same techniques. Additional safety assessments should be conducted only when the traits are related, or where they affect the same metabolic pathway."

on the criteria discussion here, the majority of GM events currently on the market do not interact.

3. Current regulatory situation for combined GM events

Currently, there is no global consensus for the regulation of previously approved GM events combined by conventional breeding. For example, Codex (CODEX, 2003) provides internationally recognized guidelines for conducting food safety assessments on single GM events; however, these guidelines do not explicitly address combined GM events generated through conventional breeding. Consequently, individual regulatory agencies have devised their own requirements (e.g., EFSA, 2007; CFIA, 2004; OGTR, 2007), and requested data packages may range from minimal to extensive. Table 1 identifies those countries with no additional data requirements for combined GM events that are unlikely to interact and describes the continuum of additional data requirements and complexity of review processes for other countries requiring combined GM event review.

When assessing the safety of combined GM events, it is instructive to consider international guidance regarding conventional breeding and substantial equivalence of GM events combined by conventional breeding. For example, the World Health Organization concludes that substantial equivalence should be maintained in a combined GM trait variety if substantial equivalence had been demonstrated for each of the parents. Specifically, they argue that "...if substantial equivalence has been demonstrated both for a [genetically engineered] tomato with a gene producing a delayed ripening phenotype and for a [genetically engineered] tomato with a gene for herbicide resistance, then crossing these two varieties would result in a new variety that would be expected to be substantially equivalent to the parents" (WHO, 1995). Additional international groups, including the Food and Agriculture Organization/World Health Organization (FAO/WHO, 1996), International Seed Federation (ISF, 2005), and CropLife International (CLI, 2005) similarly advocate basing the safety of combined GM events on the safety of the parental GM events (see Table 2).

Consistent with this international guidance, regulatory agencies in some countries, including the US (FDA, 2001), Canada (CFIA, 2004), and Australia (OGTR, 2007), have requested no additional regulatory data to approve combined GM events as long as the traits are not likely to interact in a manner that would affect safety and the risk assessments of the single events can reasonably be applied to the combined event product. The FDA specifically states that "narrow crosses are unlikely to result in unintended changes to foods that raise safety or other regulatory questions" – "including narrow crosses between different rDNA-modified [GM] lines" (FDA, 2001).

Contrary to this international guidance, some propose that safety testing beyond that required for the single GM events be conducted for combined GM event product approvals (De Schrijver et al., 2007). To support the regulatory approval of combined GM events, some countries (i.e., those of the EU) have conducted complex reviews of a comprehensive additional dataset as suggested by De Schrijver et al. (2007), to document that combined GM event products are no different from the parental single GM events from which they were derived or their conventional counterparts. These additional data may include phenotypic characterization, molecular characterization, protein levels, morphology, and nutritional composition.

Other countries vary in the amount of data required to confirm that the single event assessments remain applicable to the combined event (see Table 1). Many do not consider it necessary to require the development of a comprehensive dataset, or a complex data review process, in order to conclude that the safety for the combined GM event product has not changed. It is recognized that the data generated for the parental single GM events can be used to predict the safety of the combined GM event in most instances.

4. Safety considerations

4.1. Conventional plant breeding

The history of plant domestication and plant breeding dates back approximately 10,000 years (McCouch, 2004). Plant breeding has been practiced since early humans identified seeds from the most productive plants and saved them to plant in the following growing season. The modern era of plant breeding, whose beginning correlates with the rediscovery of Mendel's work in 1900 (Duvick, 1996), has led to great success in combining desirable traits in a single crop as demonstrated by improved agronomic, quality, and/or nutritional traits. These improvements have been introduced using a variety of techniques, including hybrid breeding, introgression of traits from wild relatives, mutagenesis, wide crosses, embryo and ovule rescue, double haploid technology, tissue culture and plant regeneration, and protoplast fusion, all of which are considered routine applications of traditional plant breeding. More recently, molecular marker technology has been employed to characterize progeny and streamline the breeding process.

Conventional plant breeding predictably provides safe food and feed crops which exhibit familiar phenotypic and agronomic properties in the environment. Many traits, including disease resistance, yield, stress resistance, and quality/nutrition improvements have been introgressed from wild species through conventional plant breeding (Fernie et al., 2006; Hajjar and Hodgkin, 2007). The process of identifying traits, combining them in familiar genotypes to establish a history of safe use (Constable et al., 2007) and selecting elite performing varieties is routinely employed in plant breeding. Moreover, this approach has an impressive record of food, feed, and environmental safety, and rarely gives rise to safety concerns through unintended effects (Cellini et al., 2004).

Combining multiple approved GM events using conventional breeding to produce elite performing crops is increasingly important in global agriculture (James, 2007; James, 2009). When conventional breeding is used to generate varieties with combined GM events, these varieties are screened over multiple generations and across diverse growing environments. Typically, product performance and agronomic features are evaluated and traits such as yield, field performance, and disease resistance are measured and tested to ensure that the traits are stable, heritable, and express the desired phenotype under a wide range of environmental conditions. The phenotypic characteristics evaluated during the screening step are the expressed result of the plant's genotype and are the culmination of the complex metabolic pathways that are activated in response to environmental conditions. Phenotypic characteristics allow breeders to measure the degree to which unintended effects are produced as a result of the various traits combined in the variety. Selection during the conventional breeding process is valuable in removing undesirable characteristics and thereby helps to maintain the safety and quality of the food and/or feed product (Cellini et al., 2004; NRC, 2004; WHO, 1995). Additional evaluations or analyses may be recommended for a particular crop species that may contain a novel compositional profile or have an undesirable component (e.g., allergen, toxicant. or anti-nutrient) in a final food or feed product at a level that may be of concern. These components have been identified in various publications, for example OECD Consensus Documents (OECD, 2010). The requirements for these evaluations vary by crop and country, most often based on variety registration requirements. Breeders are aware of potential changes in composition that may arise through breeding, and strict adherence to safe breeding practices and variety requirements ensure that food safety concerns are unlikely to be repeated within the current disciplined environment.

In summary, conventional breeding is widely and routinely used to combine desirable traits in new crop varieties. Careful attention to desired phenotype, progeny selection and phenotypic performance of the resulting variety affords a significant level of risk management, thereby reducing the potential for harm to humans, animals, and the environment. With few exceptions, safe food and feed products are generated from conventional plant breeding. This approach has long been employed, and is based on the underlying premise that newly generated varieties based on existing crop varieties with a history of safe use are unlikely to produce unintended effects that would be a food safety concern. More recently, the same modern plant breeding techniques used to combine conventional traits have been used to combine GM traits produced through agricultural biotechnology.

4.2. Safety of crops with single GM events

Agricultural crops improved with a single GM event are rigorously tested according to internationally recognized guidelines (CODEX, 2003; SCBD, 2000) prior to regulatory approval and commercial availability. The development and commercialization of a new GM event occurs through a lengthy and complicated process that involves the following: (1) research to identify potentially valuable genes, (2) product concept testing, (3) multiple transformations in model and target species, (4) screening to select the best transformation event with the desired trait, (5) conventional breeding into elite germplasm, followed by field efficacy testing, (6) development of a scientifically robust safety data package, (7) submission to, and evaluation and authorization by, regulatory agencies, and (8) commercialization compliant with conditions of the regulatory approval.

The regulatory review and authorization process for GM events is more rigorous and extensive than for conventionally-bred crops with similar modifications (Bradford et al., 2005; NRC, 2004). Konig et al. (2004) noted that "It can even be argued that foods from GM crops are better characterized than other non-regulated plant derived foods, due to the additional rigour in the current regulatory requirements and testing regime compared to that for conventionally-bred crops".

Before a GM event is commercialized, it must undergo a safety review and be authorized by the relevant competent agencies under all applicable regulations. The regulatory review routinely includes assessments for food, feed, and/or environmental safety using a wide range of scientific studies that can be broadly grouped into the following categories: event/molecular characterization; trait expression/characterization; substantial equivalence; food/ feed safety; environmental safety; evaluations for plant incorporated protectants (PIP), if appropriate. Some specific studies for single GM events are considered in greater detail below.

The regulatory data package developed for a single GM event provides an in-depth analysis of the transformed plant, including a description of the recipient plant, and a comprehensive molecular characterization of the introduced DNA that documents stability and heritability over several generations. Multiple datasets are available that consistently demonstrate the stable inheritance of both the introduced DNA and the associated phenotype of single GM events (Heck et al., 2005: Padgette et al., 1995). An important aspect of product characterization is the stable inheritance of GM events. Stable inheritance of the individual single GM events has been recognized as sufficient to assure the stability of these events in the combined GM event product by FAO and WHO (FAO/WHO, 1991) and more recently by the UK's Advisory Committee on Releases to the Environment (ACRE, 2007). Therefore, use of the single GM event assessment is appropriate to establish stable inheritance in the combined GM event product.

Food and feed assessments are based on a full nutritional evaluation of the GM event grown in different environments that are representative of normal cultivation conditions. Although not a specific requirement under the Codex Guidelines (see paragraph 11, CODEX, 2003), an animal study is also provided. Such a study may involve oral administration of high doses of purified protein to investigate the toxicity of the protein or whole food animal feeding with test animals such as rats or chickens to establish the nutritional equivalence of the GM food compared to an equivalent conventional feed. These evaluations, coupled with field and agronomic data, establish the safety of the introduced protein. They also help to identify potential unintended effects from the genetic modification that may impact food safety, based on comparison to existing crops or foods with a history of safe use (Cellini et al., 2004; CODEX, 2003).

Single GM event crops with traits that derive from a newly introduced protein (e.g., CRY or EPSPS proteins) are examined with regard to protein structure, function, potential toxicity, and allergenicity of the introduced protein. The characteristics of the crop and the potential environmental risk of releasing the GM event are evaluated for a range of potential environmental effects. Specific assessments include the following: agronomic and phenotypic characteristics, effects on non-target organisms, gene flow, potential increase in weediness or plant pest attributes, and stability under a range of environmental conditions.

Codex Alimentarius incorporated data requirement guidelines for the evaluation of GM products for food safety in 2003 (CODEX, 2003). Most countries requiring evaluation of GM products have used these Codex guidelines as a framework to develop their own food and feed safety data requirements. With respect to evaluating environmental risk, international guideline assessments are contained within the Cartagena Protocol for Biosafety (SCBD, 2000). Even in those countries that have not ratified the Biosafety Protocol, including the US, Canada, and Australia, similar principles to evaluate environmental risk are used. The datasets described above provide information that meets the requirements of these international guidelines.

Because food and feed crops are traded internationally, the safety of a GM event available in commerce has typically been reviewed and authorized by regulatory agencies in numerous countries. Currently, some form of regulatory review is required in the fifty-seven countries that have granted regulatory approvals for GM crops (James, 2009). These include importing countries as well as countries where the crop is cultivated. These multiple independent regulatory approvals further document the safety of the GM event.

In summary, single GM events are tested according to international guidelines that are more rigorous and extensive than those required for conventionally-bred crops with similar modifications. Data submitted for regulatory review of single GM events supports assessments for food, feed and environmental safety using a wide range of scientific studies. Multiple datasets have demonstrated the genomic and phenotypic stability and reviews by regulatory agencies for fifty-seven countries globally provide multiple confirmations of the safety of the single GM event products.

4.3. Safety of GM events combined by conventional breeding

Conventional plant breeding is routinely used to improve crop performance and is specifically employed to develop plant varieties that fit particular environments and production practices (Powell et al., 2003). Section 4.1 reviewed this process and considered its safe use in the development of food and feed products, while the following Section 4.2 reviewed the rigorous safety assessment process for single GM event products. The same biological and selective principles used for conventional and single GM event crop development are used to combine previously approved GM events. Accordingly, single GM events previously assessed as safe should be safe to combine through conventional plant breeding when they are unlikely to interact in a manner affecting safety. As a result, the rigorous safety assessments conducted on single GM events, which were deemed to be as safe as their conventional counterparts, also can be used to predict the safety of the combined GM events.

There are many commercial examples of combined GM events, and an updated list can be accessed through the Biosafety Clearing-House (BCH, 2010). The safety of commercially available combined GM events has been well-demonstrated in multiple independent reports that document the continually increased acceptance and use by farmers globally (Brooks and Barfoot, 2008; James, 2009; Lemaux, 2008; Sankula, 2006). However, regulatory agencies in some countries request additional characterization of combined GM events and comparisons to single GM parental controls and conventional comparators. These additional studies may include analysis of phenotype, molecular characteristics, protein characteristics, morphology and nutritional evaluation.

It is instructive to look at the results of the additional safety studies performed on combined GM events to consider if they confirm the safety anticipated from the same studies performed on the single GM events. Analyses of combined GM events compared to parental controls have consistently revealed the following: no phenotypic differences from parental events; molecular characteristics that are the same as parental events with all events inherited stably; protein levels comparable to the single event parents; no morphological differences compared to parental events; substantial equivalence based on nutritional evaluation, with no pleiotropic or toxic effects compared to the conventional non-GM crop. These analyses are available on public websites, including those for the US EPA (EPA, 2010), Japan Biosafety Clearing-House (JBCH, 2010) and the EU (GMO Compass, 2010). In many cases, they also provide the assessment conclusions of the appropriate competent authorities providing the regulatory approval.

The results of the additional characterizations performed on the current commercial combined event products, as described above, provide scientific documentation that combining approved GM events by conventional breeding has generated no unique safety concerns. These results also demonstrate the general observation that with respect to safety, the combined GM event product is no different than either of the single GM event parents, and not substantially different from comparator conventional varieties. Specifically, no substantiated safety concerns have been identified, nor have any adverse effects been reported, for any approved commercial combined GM event product.

In summary, the safety of combined GM event products is based primarily on the use of a safe process, conventional plant breeding, to combine single GM events that had previously been determined to be safe through the regulatory review and approval process. Thus, the data packages that had been developed for the single GM events are useful in establishing the safety of the combined event product. The results from the additional data that had been submitted to countries that require them simply confirm the safety that would be expected from the use of a safe process to combine products that had been previously determined to be safe.

5. Discussion and recommendations

The use of GM crops is the most rapidly adopted crop technology in the recent history of agriculture (James, 2008). The technology has been embraced globally, and through 2009 GM maize, cotton, soy, canola, sugar beet and alfalfa have been cultivated on almost 1 billion hectares in 25 countries (James, 2009). GM crops that obtained early commercial success provided single agronomic traits (e.g., herbicide tolerance or insect protection), but generally did not combine these benefits in the same plant. The current trend, to combine or 'stack' two or more single GM events, has provided growers with increased flexibility and improved performance. Combined trait crops are clearly preferred by growers in the US, where, in 2009, more maize acres were planted with combined GM products than the sum of conventional and single GM event products (James, 2009). Not surprisingly, this trend toward planting combined GM trait crops is becoming increasingly important worldwide, where there is global pressure to increase crop productivity to remain economically competitive and minimize environmental impacts. Over a recent three year period, global planting of combined GM trait crops increased from 11.6 million hectares (11% of total) in 2006 to 28.7 million hectares (21% of total) in 2009 (James, 2007; James, 2009).

The data and information presented in previous sections describe the safety of conventional plant breeding (Section 4.1), the regulatory review process that establishes the safety of single GM events (Section 4.2), and the basis for the safety of combining

GM events by conventional plant breeding (Section 4.3). Through a review process far exceeding that employed for crops produced through conventional breeding, the single GM event products have already passed a rigorous regulatory safety review and have established stability through conventional breeding. All this supports the position that combining previously approved, single GM events by conventional plant breeding produces combined GM event food and feed products that are as safe as the parental GM single events and their conventionally-produced counterparts. Therefore, it seems reasonable to conclude that combined GM event crops generated through conventional breeding of single GM events warrant little safety concern and regulatory requirements and procedures for GM events combined through conventional breeding should reflect the predicted safety established for the single GM events. Thus, for events or traits unlikely to interact, the data on the single GM events can be effectively 'bridged' to the combined GM event product and the safety assessments performed on the single GM event parents should be sufficient to address any regulatory questions on the combined GM event product.

Given their expected safety, combined GM event crops produced through conventional breeding should be subject to little, if any, regulatory data requirements beyond the safety assessments and/or approvals of the single GM events. Thus, the regulatory approaches taken by those countries that do not require additional data for combined GM events (i.e., US, Canada, Australia/New Zealand) are scientifically justified. For regulatory agencies that desire confirmatory information, data that demonstrate the presence of the GM events and support lack of GM trait interactions affecting safety or efficacy of the product may be reasonable. These data may include greenhouse or field bioefficacy studies, gene or protein expression levels, and/or relevant composition analyses on the combined GM event product. Additional studies would be warranted if two or more of the traits present in the combined GM event product are likely to interact in a manner that would in some way change prior safety assessments. In this case, appropriate experiments should be designed to address the anticipated interaction. On the other hand, a request for extensive additional data, duplicating that developed for the single GM events. does not appear to be scientifically justified for approved GM events that are unlikely to interact as such data would be expected to generate results that are equivalent to the results obtained for the single GM event.

These recommendations assume previous or concurrent regulatory approval of single GM event products used to generate combined GM event products. In terms of efficiency and appropriate use of regulatory agency resources, the option of concurrent submission and review of data for the single GM event parents and combined GM event products should be allowed.

The recommendations made here would maintain the rigorous safety review process currently applied to GM events while allowing efficient use of limited regulatory agency resources. Careful attention to a reasonable, science-based regulatory review process will ensure the continued development and timely introduction of new GM event varieties that are needed to sustain innovative plant breeding to meet future agricultural demands.

Conflict of Interest

W. Pilacinski, A. Crawford, S. Huber, P. Hunst, L. Lahman, S. MacIntosh, M. Pohl, C. Rickard, L. Tagliani and N. Weber are employed in the agricultural biotechnology industry. R. Downey and B. Harvey declare no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Tom Nickson for helpful discussions during the preparation of this manuscript.

References

- ACRE, 2007. Advisory Committee on Releases to the Environment. Annual Report Number 13: 2006. Department for Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs. London, UK Accessed 20 Oct 2010: http://www.defra.gov.uk/acre/pubs.htm.
- BCH, 2010. Biosafety Clearing-House. Living Modified Organism (LMO) Registry. Accessed 19 October 2010: http://bch.cbd.int/database/lmo-registry/.
- Bradford, K.J., Van Deynze, A., Gutterson, N., Parrott, W., Strauss, S.H., 2005. Regulating transgenic crops sensibly: lessons from plant breeding, biotechnology and genomics. Nat. Biotechnol. 23, 439–444.
- Brooks, G., Barfoot, P., 2008. GM crops: global socio-economic and environmental impacts. PG Economic UK, Ltd., Dorchester, UK.
- Cellini, F., Chesson, A., Colquhoun, I., Constable, A., Davies, H.V., Engel, K.H., Gatehouse, A.M.R., Karenlampi, S., Kok, E.J., Leguay, J.J., Lehesranta, S., Noteborn, H., Pedersen, J., Smith, M., 2004. Unintended effects and their detection in genetically modified crops. Food Chem. Toxicol. 42, 1089–1125.
- CFIA, 2004. Canadian Food Inspection Agency. Plant Biosafety Office. Directive 94-08 (Dir94-08) Assessment Criteria for Determining Environmental Safety of Plants with Novel Traits. Assessed 19 October 2010: http://www.inspection.gc.ca/english/plaveg/bio/dir/dir9408e.shtml.
- CLI, 2005. CropLife International. Regulation of plant biotechnology products containing two or more traits combined by conventional plant breeding. Accessed 20 October 2010: http://www.croplife.org/files/documents published/1/en-us/PP/199_PP/2005_01_24_Position_Paper_-_Regulation_of_Plant_ Biotechnology_Products_____ Containing_Two_or_More_Traits_Combined_By__ Conventional_Plant_ Breeding.pdf>.
- Cockburn, A., 2002. Assuring the safety of genetically modified (GM) foods: the importance of an holistic, integrative approach. J. Biotechnol. 98, 79–106.
- CODEX, 2003. Codex Alimentarius. Guideline for the conduct of food safety assessment of foods derived from recombinant-DNA plants. Accessed 19 October 2010: <ftp://ftp.fao.org/es/esn/food/guide_plants_en.pdf>.
- Constable, A.D., Jonas, D., Cockburn, A., Davi, A., Edwards, G., Hepburn, P., Herouet-Guicheney, C., Knowles, M., Moseley, B., Oberdorfer, R., Samuels, F., 2007. History of safe use as applied to the safety assessment of novel foods and foods derived from genetically modified organisms. Food Chem. Toxicol. 45, 2513–2525.
- De Schrijver, A., Devos, Y., Van den Bulcke, M., Cadot, P., De Loose, M., Reheul, D., Sneyers, M., 2007. Risk assessment of GM stacked events obtained from crosses between GM events. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 18, 101–109.
- Duvick, D.N., 1996. Plant breeding, an evolutionary concept. Crop Sci. 36, 539–548.
- EC, 2001. European Commission. Directive 2001/18/EC of the European parliament and of the council of 12 March 2001 on the deliberate release into the environment of genetically modified organisms and repealing Council Directive 90/220/EEC. Accessed 19 October 2010: <a href="http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUr
- EFSA, 2007. European Food Safety Authority. Guidance Document of the Scientific Panel on Genetically Modified Organisms for the risk assessment of genetically modified plants containing stacked transformation events. Accessed 23 October 2010: http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/512.htm.
- EPA, 2010. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Pesticides: Regulating Pesticides. Current & Previously Registered Section 3 PIP Registrations, revised 06/09/10. Accessed 19 October 2010: http://www.epa.gov/oppbppd1/biopesticides/pips/pip_list.htm>.
- FAO/WHO, 1991. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations/World Health Organization. Strategies for assessing the safety of foods produced by biotechnology. Accessed 19 October 2010: http://www.who.int/foodsafety/ publications/biotech/en/1990.pdf>.
- FAO/WHO, 1996. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations/World Health Organization. Joint FAO/WHO expert consultation on biotechnology and food safety. Accessed 19 October 2010: https://ftp.fao.org/es/esn/food/ biotechnology.pdf>.
- FDA, 2001. United States Food and Drug Administration. premarket notice concerning bioengineered. Foods. Fed. Regist. 66, 4706–4738.
- Fernie, A.R., Tadmor, Y., Zamir, D., 2006. Natural genetic variation for improving crop quality. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 9, 196–202.
- GMO Compass, 2010. GMO Database. Genetically Modified Food and Feed: Authorization in the EU. Accessed 19 October 2010: http://www.gmo-compass.org/eng/gmo/db/>.
- Hajjar, R., Hodgkin, T., 2007. The use of wild relatives in crop improvement: a survey of developments over the last 20 years. Euphytica 156, 1–13.
- Halpin, C., 2005. Gene stacking in transgenic plants the challenge for 21st century plant biotechnology. Plant Biotechnol. J. 3, 141–155.
- Heck, G.R., Armstrong, C.L., Astwood, J.D., Behr, C.F., Bookout, J.T., Brown, S.M., Cavato, T.A., DeBoer, D.L., Deng, M.Y., George, C., Hillyard, J.R., Hironaka, C.M., Howe, A.R., Jakse, E.H., Ledesma, B.E., Lee, T.C., Lirette, R.P., Mangano, M.L., Mutz, J.N., Qi, Y., Rodriguez, R.E., Sidhu, S.R., Silvanovich, A., Stoecker, M.A., Yingling, R.A., You, J., 2005. Development and characterization of a CP4 EPSPS-based, glyphosate-tolerant corn event. Crop Sci. 45, 329–339.

- ISF, 2005. International Seed Federation. Genetically modified crops and plant breeding. Accessed 19 October 2010: http://www.worldseed.org/cms/medias/ file/PositionPapers/OnSustainableAgriculture/ Genetically_Modified_Crops_and_Plant_Breeding_20050601_(En).pdf>.
- James, C., 2007. Global status of commercialized biotech/GM crops: 2007. ISAA Brief 37, Ithaca, NY: International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-Biotech Applications (ISAAA).
- James, C., 2008. Global status of commercialized biotech/GM crops: 2008. ISAA Brief 39, Ithaca, NY: International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-Biotech Applications (ISAAA).
- James, C., 2009. Global status of commercialized biotech/GM crops: 2009. ISAA Brief 41, Ithaca, NY: International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-Biotech Applications (ISAAA).
- JBCH, 2010. Japan Biosafety Clearing House. Accessed 19 October 2010: http://www.bch.biodic.go.jp/english/lmo.html.
- Konig, A., Cockburn, A., Crevel, R.W.R., Debruyne, E., Grafstroem, R., Hammerling, U., Kimber, I., Knudsen, I., Kuiper, H.A., Peijnenburg, A., Penninks, A.H., Poulsen, M., Schauzu, M., Wal, J.M., 2004. Assessment of the safety of foods derived from genetically modified (GM) crops. Food Chem. Toxicol. 42, 1047–1088.
- Lemaux, P.G., 2008. Genetically engineered plants and foods: a scientist's analysis of the issues (part I). Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 59, 771–812.
- Lemaux, P.G., 2009. Genetically engineered plants and foods: a scientist's analysis of the issues (part II). Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 60, 511–559.
- McCouch, S., 2004. Diversifying selection in plant breeding. PLoS Biol. 2, 1507– 1512.
- NRC, 2004. National Research Council. Safety of Genetically Engineered Foods: Approaches to Assessing Unintended Health Effects. Ed. National Academies Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- OECD, 2006. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. Series on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology, no. 23. Revised 2006: OECD guidance for the designation of a unique identifier for transgenic plants, ENV/JM/MONO(2002)7/REV1. Assessed 23 October 2010:

www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/displaydocumentpdf/?cote=env/jm/ mono(2002)7/rev1&doclanguage=en>.

- OECD, 2010. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. Environment Directorate. Consensus Documents for the Work on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology. Accessed 20 October 2010: http://www.oecd.org/document/51/0,3343,en_2649_34387_1889395_1_1_1_1,00.html.
- OGTR, 2007. Australian Office of the Gene Technology Regulator. Policy on licensing of plant GMOs in which different genetic modifications have been combined (or "stacked") by conventional breeding. Accessed 19 Oct 2010: http://www.ogtr.gov.au/ internet/ogtr/publishing.nsf/Content/dirpolicy-3/SFILE/stacking1.pdf>.
- Padgette, S.R., Kolacz, K.H., Delannay, X., Re, D.B., Lavallee, B.J., Tinius, C.N., Rhodes, W.K., Otero, Y.I., Barry, G.F., Eichholtz, D.A., Peschke, V.M., Nida, D.L., Taylor, N.B., Kishore, G.M., 1995. Development, identification and characterization of a glyphosate-tolerant soybean line. Crop Sci. 35, 1451–1461.
- Powell, W., Waugh, R., Bradshaw, J., Russell, J., Ramsay, L., Forster, B.P., 2003. Introduction to classical genetics and plant breeding. In: Christou, P., Klee, H. (Eds.), Handbook of Plant Biotechnology, vol. 1. Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ, pp. 3–29.
- Sankula, S., 2006. Quantification of the impacts on US agriculture of biotechnologyderived crops planted in 2005. National Center for Food and Agricultural Policy, Washington, DC.
- SCBD, 2000. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety to the Convention on Biological Diversity. Montreal, Quebec, Canada.
- Taverniers, I., Papazova, N., Bertheau, Y., De Loose, M., Holst-Jensen, A., 2008. Gene stacking in transgenic plants: towards compliance between definitions, terminology, and detection within the EU regulatory framework. Environ. Biosafety Res. 7, 197–218.
- WHO, 1995. World Health Organization. Application of the principles of substantial equivalence to the safety evaluation of foods or food components from plants derived by modern biotechnology. Geneva: World Health Organization WHO/ FNU/FOS/95.1.